THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 19-ALJ-30-0131-AP  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001809

---

Compass Collegiate Academy, Inc., .....

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County School District, .....

Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Erik T. Norton  
SC Bar No. 78360  
HARRELL, MARTIN & PEACE, PA  
PO BOX 1000  
Chapin, SC 29036  
(803) 345-3353  
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED  
APR 03 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

##

### **Statement of the Issues on Appeal**

1. Did the Administrative Law Court commit reversible error by determining that the Appellant's appeal was moot because another sponsor, the South Carolina Public Charter School District, approved Appellant's charter application while Respondent denied Appellant's charter application?
2. Because the appeal is not moot, did the Administrative Law Court commit reversible error by failing to determine that Respondent should have granted Appellant's charter application?

### **Statement of the Case**

In South Carolina, an applicant may seek approval to open a public charter school pursuant to the Charter Schools Act of 1996, S.C. Code Ann. §§59-40-10 to -240 (“the Act”). The process and standards for submitting and reviewing applications are set forth in §§59-40-50, -60 and -70. The State Department of Education (“Department”) has been entrusted with the task of promulgating and developing guidelines necessary to implement the Act, including the application process. *See* S.C. Code § 59-40-180.

Procedurally, the Act requires that an applicant to submit an application to a “sponsor”, which may be a local school district, such as the Respondent, or a statewide sponsor such as the South Carolina Public Charter School District, by February 1. With some exceptions not applicable here, the sponsor must rule on the application within ninety days of receiving the application. If the application is not ruled on within ninety days of receipt, the application is considered approved. If a sponsor denies the application, it must provide the reasons and basis for the denial within ten days of the decision to deny. An applicant may appeal the sponsor's decision to deny the application to the Administrative Law Court.

On January 31, 2019, Appellant Compass Collegiate Academy, Inc. (“CCA” or “Appellant”) submitted an application to open a public charter school (the “Application”) to the Charleston County School District Board of Trustees (“District Board” or “Respondent”). (R. 032). The District Board scheduled a Special Meeting for Monday, April 8, 2019 to conduct the statutorily required public hearing on the Application. (R. 032).

The District Board notified CCA about the Special Meeting on Thursday, April 4, 2019, leaving one business day for CCA to prepare for the public hearing. CCA objected the

short notice, but the District Board overruled the objection. (R. 032). The District Board heard a presentation from CCA and asked questions of CCA at the board meeting on April 8. (R.032). The District Board did not discuss the Application in public on April 8, but in a closed door "executive" meeting and against CCA's objections. (R. 043). The District Board later voted to deny the application in a public vote. (R. 043).

After the denial by the District Board, CCA received approval from the South Carolina Public Charter School District ("SCPCSD") on April 16, 2019, in which SCPCSD became a sponsor for CCA. Though CCA received approval of its application, SCPCSD and CCA never entered into a contract as required by the Act.

Despite this approval, CCA continued to seek sponsorship from the District Board and timely filed its Notice of Appeal to the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") on May 7, 2019. No written decision had been issued by the District Board at the time, even though the Act requires the written decision to be issued within ten days of the public hearing. On May 20, 2019, the District Board sent CCA a written decision acknowledging the Board Order had not been sent to CCA previously. (R. 15).

On October 10, 2019, the ALC issued its Final Order ("Order"), in which it only addressed the issue of whether the approval of the Appellant's charter by SCPCSD rendered the appeal contesting the District Board's decision moot. The ALC found that the approval of the CCA's application by SCPCSD bound CCA to operate the charter school under the terms submitted to SCPCSD and bound SCPCSD to serve as CCA's sponsor. Therefore, CCA could no longer obtain the District Board's sponsorship and the ALC dismissed CCA's appeal as moot. Following this Order, CCA filed its notice of appeal on October 23, 2019.

## Standard of Review

South Carolina Court of Appeals regularly reviews orders from the Administrative Law Court, especially cases involving charter schools. See *Mary L. Dinkins Higher Learning Acad. v. SC. Pub. Charter Sch. Dist.*, No. 015-UP-338, 2015 WL 4137977 (S.C. Ct. App. July 8, 2015); *Palmetto Youth Acad. Charter Sch. v. Florence Cty. Sch. Dist. Bd. Of Trustees*, No. 2013-UP-460, 2013 WL 8541637, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 11, 2013); *Hope Acad. Charter Sch. v. Richland Cy. Sch. Dist. Two*, No. 2012-UP-080, 2012 WL 10830178, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 15, 2012). "The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") establishes the standard of review for appeals from the ALC." *Greeneagle Inc. v. S. C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 399 S.C. 91, 95, 730 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct. App. 2012). "The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions,
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion."

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). Thus, the Court's standard of review is limited to whether substantial evidence supports the ALC's decision. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)

(Supp.2014) (providing this court may reverse if the ALC's decision is "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record"); *Lake City College Preparatory Academy v. S.C. Public Charter School Dist.*, 2016 WL 3944731 (Ct. App. 2016). "The mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 501 (Ct.App.2008).

### Argument

#### **I. There is No Executed Contract Between CCA and SCPCSD, therefore, the Case is Not Moot.**

The Administrative Law Court erred in its analysis and failed to establish substantial evidence to support its finding that the Act "clearly establishes a statutory scheme in which an approved charter application immediately binds both parties to [an] agreement" and making the appeal moot. (R. 009).

An approved charter application constitutes **an agreement** between the charter school and the sponsor. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-60(A)(emphasis added). However, this is only the first step in forming a binding contract between the charter school and the sponsor. Section 59-40-60(B) states that, "[a] contract between the charter school and the sponsor **must be executed** and must reflect all provisions outlined in the application as well as the roles, powers, responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract." (Emphasis added). The contract must be based on a template designed by the Department, separate and apart from the charter, that includes specifics such as the exact location of the school within the approved area, once it has been obtained. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-60(B). In short, approval of the charter application is nothing more than an agreement to negotiate the charter school contract. Contrary to the ALC's analysis, the act of applying and receiving approval of an application is not one in the same

with entering into a contractual relationship with the sponsor. These are two distinct and separate actions required by the Act. In the present case, the record reflects no contract being executed between CCA and SCPCSD and, in fact, no contract was executed.

Even if there was a binding, executed contract in this case, which there is not, it would still not lead to the appeal being moot. A case becomes moot only when it is impossible for a court to grant any effectual relief whatever to the prevailing party. *Decker v. Northwest Env'tl. Def. Ctr.*, 133 S. Ct. 1326 (2013). The Act specifically allows a charter school to voluntarily terminate its charter and contract with the consent of the sponsor. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-40-115. The Record contains no evidence to exclude the possibility that the SCPCSD would allow CCA to terminate its charter and contract for purposes of entering into a charter and contract with the CCSD. Therefore, the ALC incorrectly determined that the case was moot.

While the ALC may make valid points regarding the lack of regulatory guidance of the charter school application process from the State Department of Education, its conclusion that the Legislature did not intend for schools to apply to multiple sponsors is erroneous. A school might elect to contract with one sponsor over another for any number of valid reasons, including differences in funding available or potential facility space available through one sponsor over another. The Legislature created an avenue for the charter school to make this determination after the application is approved by creating the second step of contractual negotiations before the school and sponsor become legally bound.

Therefore, the decision of the ALC should be reversed and this Court should remand this matter to the ALC to issue a ruling that the CCSD should have approved the CCA charter application, as explained below.

## **II. The Issues Not Addressed by the ALC Should Be Decided by This Court and Not Remanded Back to the ALC.**

This Court is permitted to review issues on the merits not addressed by the ALC.

*See Furtick v. S. C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 352 S.C. 594, 599, 576 S.E.2d 146, 149 (2003) (addressing the merits of an issue in the interest of judicial economy even though the respondent was entitled to review by the lower court); *S. C. Public Interest Found v. S. C. Dep't. of Transp.*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017) (declining to remand the case involving mootness issues to the appellate court in the interest of judicial economy).

Based on the aforementioned arguments, the ALC erred in finding this case moot and, therefore, the remaining issues the ALC declined to reach must be heard on the merits. Here, this Court's standard of review is the same as the ALC's standard of review. Sending the case back to the ALC would result in the same standard of review and analysis being applied to the unaddressed issues. Further, time is of the essence as the Court's decision determines whether or not CCA will be able to move forward with securing and opening a school for the next school year. As such, this Court should decline to remand this case, and review the remainder of the arguments in the name of judicial economy and needed expeditious review.

### **a. The Charter is Approved as a Matter of Law.**

While there are many reasons the District's decision should be reversed, this Court need not proceed past the first, most obvious, and undeniable one. Section 59-40-70(B) requires that the District Board rule on any charter school application submitted to it within ninety days of receiving the application. If the District decides to deny the application, 59-40-70(C) requires that the ruling be issued in the form of a written decision explaining the reasoning for the denial. This ruling must be issued within ten days of the public hearing in which the District Board made

the decision to deny. (Id.). Importantly, Section 59-40-70(B) provides, "[I]f there is no ruling within ninety days, the application is considered approved."

Here, the ruling indisputably occurred more than ninety days after the application was received. According to the District Board's Order Denying the Application, the charter application was received on January 31, 2019. Therefore, the statute required the final ruling to be issued within ninety days, by May 1, 2019. The hearing was held on April 8, 2019, and the Order is dated April 17, 2019. (R. 16-20). However, as evidenced by the letter from counsel for District dated May 20, 2019, the District admits the Order was not issued until May 20, long after the May 1, 2019 deadline. (R. 16-20). In fact, the Order was not sent until after the Notice of Appeal was filed.

Therefore, no ruling was issued within the required 90 days and the charter was approved as a matter of law. Alternatively, the written decision issued after the appeal was filed is invalid and should not be considered part of the Record because it was sent after the ten-day time period required by the Act. As such, the Record would be devoid of any substantial evidence to support the Board Decision.

In any case, the decision of the District Board to deny must be reversed.

**b. The District Board Failed To Properly Implement Its Evaluation System In Accordance With Statute And Based On Clearly Erroneous Conclusions**

The Charter Act requires sponsors to approve charter applications that meet the requirements of Section 59-40-50 and 59-40-60 and deny applications only in accordance with Section 59-40-70(C). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-55. The District Board denied the application based on the failure to meet four of the fifteen requirements under Section 59-40-60. (R. 19-20, ¶ 24-27). These four requirements are (1) specifying a facility even though

the plan to identify one is acceptable; (2) specifying a transportation plan for all 720 proposed students; (3) providing an educational program that meets district standards; and (4) a plan for meeting district and state standards for serving students with disabilities. Conversely, then, the District Board found that the CCA application met the other eleven requirements of section 59-40-60, all of the requirements of 59-40-50 and all of the other requirements of Section 59-40-70, including that the charter meets the spirit and intent of the charter act, that it would not adversely impact the other students in the District, and that CCA has capacity to establish a quality charter school based on national industry standards. In other words, the District wrongly denied the application based on the misapplication and misinterpretation of the Charter Act along with clear errors in reading the application.

i. **The District applies the incorrect standard and commits clear error in evaluating the description of facilities.**

Section 59-40-60(F)(11) requires the charter application to include "a description of the building, facilities, and equipment and how they shall be obtained. "By the plain language of the statute, the Act does not contemplate that the applicant will have obtained all of these things before the school is approved. Indeed, the charter application does not require this information at all. (R. 157). The application promulgated by the State Department of Education and used by the District, specifically states:

5. If a facility has not been identified, specify a plan for obtaining such a facility and include a description of the facility needs, a statement as to whether an existing facility will be remodeled or a new facility will be built, and a schedule for completing or obtaining a suitable facility and, if applicable, a description and timeline for any plan to raise funds for completing or obtaining the facility.

(Id.) (emphasis in original). The Order wrongly ignores this portion of the application and denies the application because CCA does exactly what the application commands: "the Applicant has not yet identified its facilities but outlines a general timeline for establishing a permanent facility." (R. 19 ¶ 24).

Indeed, the Record evidences every single requirement set forth in the application. In its application, CCA explains how it is committed to finding a facility to meet support the execution of its instructional model, and "has already been actively searching for a location and has identified potential facility sites and options." (R. 157). CCA further also explains that it is likely to lease space in the first four years of existence while building its fund balance and credit profile to invest in a permanent facility. (R. 157). CCA describes how it has researched educational facilities needs and concluded that it should utilize a smaller facility footprint than traditional district-managed schools, including a summary of the research regarding how that can assist students, and included a sample 725 square foot classroom layout based on this research in Appendix BB of its application. (R. 158). CCA further discusses how it plans to focus its space needs on classroom space and special classrooms for academic interventions, while adding a gym and athletic fields in later years. (Id.).

After describing the facility, CCA goes on to discuss its plan for obtaining it on (R. 159-160). CCA states that it has been working with a professional commercial real estate firm (Charleston-based Bridge Commercial) to identify facility sites. (Id.). The application explains that the search has been focused on existing building for immediate lease with long-term ownership potential and available land for lease for a modular campus. (Id.). CCA has been working with an established modular company to develop a design in the event a modular campus is selected. (Id.).

Short of coming with a piece of property in hand, the application could hardly be more specific. In fact, CCA's application lists all of the viable sites considered in Appendix CC. (R. 159). It even goes on to discuss 1691 Turnbull on the Navy Base as a "leading candidate." (R. 159). It describes exactly how the lease agreement might work, how it would meet facility needs as the school grew over time and how CCA has budgeted to account for this potential site using public resources. (Id.) CCA notes that it will pursue private funding to assist with facilities costs but will not be dependent upon it. (Id.) Finally, CCA describes how its approach to its facilities are aligned to its enrollment growth. (R. 160).

In the end, even the District acknowledged that CCA's facilities plan is good. On the evaluation rubric the State Department of Education requires the District to use as part of its evaluation process, the District noted that CCA's application included a "Good description of process to follow to identify a facility" and "good thought process to understand classroom and other space requirements." (R. 055). The only area of weakness noted by the District was "No specific facility yet identified, but real state search indicates progress." (Id.) No other issues with facilities were raised in public session at the public hearing. (R. 034-043). The District's error is that it used the incorrect standard of requiring a facility to be identified, when the statute and the application used by the District only require a plan for a facility. To judge charter applications as the District Board does, the Charter Act would severely limit the ability of people without significant private financial means to apply for a charter since the committee would have to obtain the commercial property before it even applied. The Act does no such thing, of course.

Further, the District's concerns about the charter being vague on this point has no merit. (R. 19, ¶23). The Charter Act requires that a charter school and its sponsor enter into a contract, based on a template designed by the State Department of Education, separate and apart from the

charter that include specifics such as the exact location of the school within the approved area, once it has been obtained. See S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-60(B).

In short, the District made a clear error by finding that Section 59-40-60(F)(11) was not met based on a facility not being obtained when the Act and the application only require a plan in place to do so. Further, because the only evidence in the Record is that CCA's plan to obtain the facility is a "good one," in the words of the District, and meets the requirements of the statute, it was clear error for the District to deny the application on the basis of Section 59-40-60(F)(11).

ii. **The District applies the incorrect standard and commits clear error in evaluating the description of transportation.**

Section 59-40-60(F)(11) requires the charter application to include "a description of how the charter school plans to meet the transportation needs of its pupils." Importantly, however, Section 59-40-50(D) provides that charter schools are not required to provide transportation to a charter school except under limited circumstances not applicable here. As stated in the instructions to the application itself:

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