THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
Administrative Court Law

H.W. Funderburk, Jr.  
Administrative Law Court Judge

C.A. No.: 19-ALJ-30-0131-AP

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001809

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 31 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Compass Collegiate Academy, Inc.....Appellant,

v.

Charleston County School District.....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

**HALLIGAN MAHONEY WILLIAMS  
SMITH FAWLEY & REAGLE, PA**

John M. Reagle, S.C. Bar No. 14185  
jreagle@hmwlegal.com  
Susan M. Fittipaldi, S.C. Bar No. 14225  
sfittipaldi@hmwlegal.com  
1301 Gervais Street, Suite 1400  
P.O. Box 11367  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 254-4035

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

The South Carolina Attorney General issued an opinion, which is instructive in this matter, examining a similar education statute regarding school choice, S.C. Code §59-19-350. *2017 WL 5203263* (S.C.A.G., Oct. 31, 2017). That statute reads as follows:

- (A) A local school district board of trustees of this State desirous of creating an avenue for new, innovative and more flexible ways of educating children within their district, may create a school of choice within the district that is exempt from state statutes which govern other schools in the district and regulations promulgated by the State Board of Education...

The Attorney General’s opinion interpreted this language, which is virtually the same as the language in the Charter Schools Act, to indicate the legislature’s intent that a singular meaning be given to “a school of choice.” The General Assembly made a clear choice in the use of the singular tense there as it did in with the Charter Schools Act. The plain and unambiguous language evidences the legislature’s intent to allow an applicant to submit one application to one potential sponsor, and Appellant lacks the statutory authority to pursue its proposed charter school through a second application to the District Board. *See, Richland Cnty. Sch. Dist. Two v. South Carolina Dept. of Educ.*, 335 S.C. 491 (Ct. App. 1999) where the Court of Appeals found that the use of the plural “scales” evidenced an intention that teacher pay in the District should be based on two separate pay schedules, a “state” pay scale and an “average school supplement” pay scale, citing, *Emerson Elec. Co. v. Wasson*, 287 S.C. 394, 397, 339 S.E.2d 118, 120 (1986) (“The legislature's use of the plural ‘taxpayers’ instead of ‘taxpayer’ indicates that corporations filing consolidated returns are not to be considered a single entity.”). To read it otherwise would lead to the absurd result of an application potentially being approved by two different sponsors leading to two simultaneously binding contracts for the same charter school. *See, Ray Bell Constr. Co., Inc. v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cnty.*, 331 S.C. 19, 26, 501 S.E.2d 725, 729 (1998) (stating that courts ordinarily will reject a proposed statutory meaning “when to accept it would lead to a result so

plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention”) (quoting *Kiriakides v. United Artists Communications, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994)).

The ALC also correctly found that once an application is approved by a sponsor, that approval becomes a binding agreement on both parties. (R. p. 9.) By operation of law, S.C. Code §59-40-70(F), with the SCPCSD Board’s approval of CCA’s charter application, CCA entered into an agreement with that sponsor, and CCA could no longer seek approval from the District Board, nor could the ALC render an order directing such.

Appellant argues that this finding is erroneous because an approved charter application is not a binding “contract” and seems to take the position that, without an executed contract, it is free to enter into another agreement with a different charter granting authority. This is not correct.

The statute is clear that the approved application is an agreement. Pursuant to S.C. Code §59-40-60(A), an approved charter application constitutes an *agreement* between the charter school and the sponsor. (Emphasis added.) If the Board from which the applicant is seeking sponsorship approves the application, it becomes the charter school’s sponsor and *shall* sign the approved application. S.C. Code §59-40-70(F).<sup>1</sup> (Emphasis added.) In its application to the District Board, Appellant acknowledged this arrangement with a statement of authorization. (R. p. 150.) In this section of its application, CCA states: “[w]e hereby certify that this charter application has been duly authorized by the sponsor listed above. This authorization indicates that *the terms of this application constitute a contractual agreement* between the two organizations represented below pursuant to Section 59-40-60 of the South Carolina Charter School Act (1996).” (Emphasis

---

<sup>1</sup> Cf. S.C. Code §59-40-70(B) which states that if the Board does not make a ruling on the application for a charter school within 90 days, “the application is considered approved. Once the application has been approved by the board of trustees or area commission, the charter school may open at the beginning of the following year.”

added.) Appellant, through its application, acknowledged that a contractual agreement is formed when the application is authorized or approved. It is disingenuous for Appellant now to argue that an approved charter is not a binding contractual agreement.

Once a sponsor approves a charter, it is then required to negotiate and execute a supplemental charter contract with each approved charter school. S.C. Code §59-40-55(B)(3).

Pursuant to S.C. Code §59-40-60(B),

“[a] contract between the charter school and the sponsor *must* be executed and *must* reflect all provisions outlined in the application as well as the roles, powers, responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract. A contract must include the proposed enrollment procedures and dates of the enrollment period of the charter school. All agreements regarding the release of the charter school from school district policies must be contained in the contract...” (Emphasis added.)

The requirement that a supplemental contract later be entered into does not negate the binding nature of the charter approval. The requirement for an additional, separate contract is in place so that the parties can negotiate additional terms outside of the application, such as administrative communications and operational procedures between the parties and fine tune whether the charter school is bound by the District’s policies, etc. The finding that both the approved application and contract are to be considered binding is further supported by the language in Section 59-40-110(C) which states:

“[a] charter must be revoked or not renewed by the sponsor if it determines that the charter school: (1) committed a material violation of the conditions, standards, performance expectations, or procedures provided for in the charter application or charter school contract or both; (2) failed to meet the academic performance standards and expectations as defined in the charter application or charter school contract or both...” (Emphasis added.)

Clearly, the Act contemplates that both the approved application and the contract in their own right are agreements with independently binding conditions and standards.

Appellant argues that even if there was a binding contract as a result of the approved agreement, the appeal should not be considered moot because the Act allows CCA to terminate the charter and contract with the consent of the sponsor. (Appellant’s brief, p. 10.) Appellant acknowledges that it cannot terminate the agreement unilaterally. It must have the sponsor’s consent. The mere possibility of obtaining the consent of the sponsor to terminate a contractual agreement is speculative. Indeed, the SCPCSD has an elaborate and formal procedure for consideration of such “transfer” requests. (See, <http://www.sccharter.org/2018/02/16/draft-transfer-policy>).<sup>2</sup> The policy specifically states that it “may, *but is not required to*, grant the transfer request.” (Emphasis added.) There is nothing in the record either before the ALC or this court to suggest that SCPCSD would consent to such a termination or transfer. Moreover, when determining whether to release one of its charter schools to another sponsor pursuant to its own policy, the SCPCSD Board may consider the “readiness of the receiving sponsor to accept the transferring school.” Under the circumstances of this case in which the charter application has been denied by the District Board, this consideration would clearly weigh against the SCPCSD Board granting CCA’s request for a transfer.<sup>3</sup> The ALC correctly found that CCA and SCPCSD had entered into a binding agreement and that the relief sought by CCA’s appeal could not be granted.

The South Carolina Charter Schools Act clearly establishes a statutory scheme in which an approved charter application immediately binds both parties to this agreement. The approving

---

<sup>2</sup> According to its publicly published Board minutes, the SCPCSD Board had the first reading of this policy, Board Policy III.T.3.F **Request to Transfer to Another Sponsor Policy**, on February 8, 2018; a second reading with amendments occurred on March 8, 2018, and it appears that the third and final reading occurred during the April 12, 2018 Board meeting.

<sup>3</sup> See also, <https://www.thestate.com/news/local/education/article202891014.html>, “[p]ublicly funded charter school system in ‘state of chaos,’ SC senator says” discussing the SCPCSD’s denial of four charter school’s requests for charter transfers to other sponsors.

body then becomes the school's sponsor and it must negotiate and execute a charter contract including the provisions outlined in the application. As such, once CCA's application was approved by the SCPCSD Board, those parties had a binding agreement for CCA to operate a charter school and for SCPCSD to be its sponsor. Even assuming CCA had the authority under the Act to simultaneously submit applications to multiple sponsors, that intervening act rendered CCA's appeal of the District Board's denial moot because the ALC could no longer grant any effectual relief or order the District Board to be its sponsor. The ALC correctly analyzed and applied statutory construction principles in finding that the Legislature only intended an applicant to submit one application to one potential sponsor for each charter school. (R. p. 10.) The ALC correctly noted that to find otherwise would create the untenable circumstance of multiple applications resulting in multiple binding contracts for the same charter school. (R. pp. 12-13.)

**2. Even if This Court Were to Disagree with the ALC in Dismissing the Appeal for Mootness, it Should Uphold the Dismissal Based on Other Sustaining Grounds in the Record.**

A respondent "may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, even if those reasons have not been presented to or ruled on by the lower court." *1'On LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). "The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment." *Id.* at 420, 526 S.E.2d at 723. "The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." Rule 220(c), SCACR.

In this case, one of the bases for denying CCA's application was the fact that it failed to include any termination procedure for teachers employed by the charter school as required by

S.C. Code §59-40-60(F)(13). (R. p. 5)<sup>4</sup> Although there is some description of a general grievance procedure, the application wholly fails to address the required due process rights of a teacher facing termination. Even though required by this section, the application also fails to state whether or not the provisions of the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act (“TEDA”) apply to the teachers employed by the school. *See also*, S.C. Code Reg. 43-601, III (N)(2), which states that “if the charter school does not adopt procedures for the employment and dismissal of teachers outlined in [TEDA], the charter school must establish employment and termination procedures that provide for notice and a right to a hearing before the governing board.” The District Board noted this deficiency in its Evaluation Rubric, and this alone was a sufficient basis to deny the application. (R. pp. 51-52)

This deficiency is not insignificant. As demonstrated by *McNaughton v. Charleston Charter Sch. for Math and Science, Inc.*, 411 S.C. 249 (2015), there can be substantial financial liability to charter schools and their sponsors for wrongful termination/breach of contract claims. In *McNaughton*, a teacher brought suit after the charter school improperly halted her grievance of her termination claiming that she did not have standing to continue the procedure. *Id* at 257. The charter school was held liable for damages and attorney’s fees in excess of \$130,000. *Id.* at 258-59. Although Appellant attempts to raise various issues in its brief, Appellant never addresses its failure to meet this statutory requirement which alone is sufficient to uphold the denial of its application. Because the application did not address this mandatory provision, the District Board’s denial on this basis is supported by substantial evidence.

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant’s brief erroneously states that the District Board denied the application based on the failure to meet four of the fifteen requirements under Section 59-40-60. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 12-13). The District Board denied the application not on four but on five specified grounds. Appellant overlooks and fails to address that fifth ground - the employment issue - in its brief. The District Board found that it clearly failed to meet this requirement and CCA does not even address this issue in its appeal.

Additionally, Respondent respectfully submits that the District Board's other four reasons for the denial of CCA's application, alone or in conjunction, are supported by substantial evidence and this Court can affirm the ALC's denial of CCA's appeal on any of those additional sustaining grounds. If this Court considers any of these additional sustaining grounds, Respondent respectfully prays reference to its brief filed below with the ALC.

### **3. CCA Failed to Preserve Other Issues for Appellate Review.**

Though an appellate court may consider a respondent's additional reasons to affirm a lower ruling, that court may not reverse for any reason appearing in the record. *Id.* at 421-422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. As stated in *I'On LLC*:

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court that it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments. (internal cites omitted) If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court failed to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. (emphasis added). *Id.*

*See also, Elam v. S.C. Dep't Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) ("A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, *but not ruled on*, in order to preserve it for appellate review." (emphasis in original)).

This rule is true for administrative appeals as well. *See, Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562 (2009), which held that "Rule 59(e) motions serve a vital purpose for proper issue preservation. As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals. *See, e.g., Brown v. South Carolina Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002) (issues not raised to and ruled upon by the ALC are unpreserved for appellate review)."

In this case, the ALC's decision only addresses the issue of mootness and did not rule on any other issues raised and argued by CCA. CCA did not file a motion to alter or amend asking the ALC to rule on those other issues. CCA spends the majority of its brief arguing that this Court should reverse the ALC and review the application to address the merits of the other arguments raised to the ALC. However, the law is clear that where, as here, the ALC did not rule on those issues and CCA did not file a motion to alter or amend the judgment, those issues are not preserved for appellate review.

Should this Court address the other issues, Respondent relies on the arguments set forth in its brief filed with the ALC. (R. pp. 430-449)

### CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, Respondent Charleston County School District respectfully requests that this Court uphold the Administrative Law Court's decision.